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Figure 1. An 1882 photo showing the north side of Onondaga (Main) Street from the corner of Onondaga and Douglas Avenue. 

This photo shows Ames Drug Store on the corner was operated by S. O. Osborn. The next store to left, built in 1867 by D. and S. 

L. Lucas, was purchased in 1868 by D. A. Bigelow and H. C. Huntington. These men joined in partnership with George G. 

Tilden in 1869. Tilden became sole owner of that mercantile business in 1883. The next brick building to the left was built by 

Bigelow, Huntington, and Tilden in 1873 as they expanded their clothing business. (Farwell T. Brown Photo Archive 5.23A.4) 

 

 

Because of its proximity to the railroad tracks, the south side of Onondaga became the logical 

choice for commercial activities directly associated with the shipment of heavy goods. In 1877, 

for example, William O. Boyd, successor to S. H. Miller's hardware business, also occupied a 

large warehouse on the south side of Onondaga Street for his merchandise. Of many early 

business firms mentioned by Turner, only one, Lods, Monroe & Soper, constructed a large, 

permanent commercial building on the south side of Onondaga Street. That the firm traded in 

livestock corroborates the contention that the south side of the street catered more to enterprises 

dealing in large and heavy goods.  

 

The 1870-1900 period saw the development of the city's infrastructure that contributed to Ames' 

later economic growth. These capital improvements included a waterworks plant that was 
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erected shortly after a bond was approved by the public in 1891 and erected in January, 1893. A 

private electric light works was established in 1882. This company subsequently expanded its 

operations with a public heating system. This unusual service supplied steam heat to the business 

portion of Ames through underground mains. The success of this public heating system 

undoubtedly related directly to the community's experience with fire and its concern for public 

safety and property.  

 

The capital improvements made by the City included a waterworks plant that was erected in 

January 1893, shortly after a bond was approved by the public in 1891. The success of this bond 

issue and subsequent construction of the City water tower on Kellogg Avenue related directly to 

the community's anxieties following its experience with the devastating fires in 1886 and 1887 

that claimed many of the buildings on the north side of Main Street. 

 

Despite these improvements, the 1870-1900 period was one of mixed economic progress. The 

Panics of 1873 and of 1893 shook the nation's financial confidence and pointed out the dangers 

of too rapid growth and speculation. The financial markets related to the agricultural economy. 

Farm wholesale prices for the period suggest the difficulties encountered by the farm sector. 

Taking 1870 as a base index at 112, for example, the index plunged to 80 in 1880, rose to 99 two 

years later, only to fall again in 1886 to 68. The index hit bottom in 1896 at 56. (Morris, 

Encyclopedia of American History, p. 508) 

 

 

 
Figure 2. Showing the north side of Onondaga Street sometime before 1910. The Odd Fellows Building is the tall 

building on the very left. The Tilden Block buildings in right-center were built in 1883. (Farwell T. Brown 

Photographic Library 10.42.1-2) 
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Figure 3. One of the earliest photographs of Ames’ Main Street (Onondaga) taken in 1875 (Farwell T. Brown 

Photographic Archive 91A.492.1-2) 

 

Within this era of price fluctuations, the five-year period between 1879-1884, stands out for its 

prosperity. This was followed by a period of overproduction that also saw foreign competition 

and a decline in prices until 1896. Other indications of unrest in the farm economy were 

illustrated by the emergence of the Greenback Party, James Weaver of Iowa's candidacy for the 

presidency in the 1892 federal election, and "Coxey's Army" march to Washington, D. C., in 

1894.  

 

The effects of these national trends undoubtedly made a mark on Ames, yet evidence of 

conflicting trends can be found. Throughout the Midwest, beginning about 1890, the enactment 

of the McKinley Tariff, which placed taxes on foreign goods and ushered in national affluence, 

drove an era of affluence. In Ames, an economy stabilized by the presence of the state 

agricultural college, was able to rebound more quickly even while experiencing some of the 

trials of the 1880s. For example, in 1885, George H. Maxwell of Ames brought four Percheron 

stallions with him from France (Allen, p 229). But the same year also has been described as a 
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stand vertically. (See Photo 009.)    

 

In the case of downtown Ames, many of the irregular lots between Main Street and the railroad 

tracks lack depth. In Block 13 (now the south 100 block of Main) of the Original Town, for 

example, those lots to the east are quite shallow. This physical characteristic seems to have 

discouraged the construction of permanent buildings at the east end of the 100 block. Another 

possible consequence of the peculiarity of lot sizes is the irregularity of facade widths in the 100 

block on the south side of Main. The buildings at 108-124 Main, for example, vary between 

approximately 12-1/2 and 25 foot widths. Other buildings like that at 224 Main are even 

narrower. As late as 1897, buildings on the east end of Main Street remained wood frame, 

irregularly spaced, and of non-conforming dimensions as seen below.  

 
Figure 4. An 1897 photograph showing the typical wood-frame buildings which were present at the east end of 

Onondaga Street. Soon after, this style of building was replaced with the brick standard that remains prominent 

throughout the district. (Farwell T. Brown Photographic Archive #8.33.4) 

 

In conclusion, the period between 1864 and 1891 saw the birth and first growth of Ames as a city 

and a commercial center. The city's street system was laid out during this time, trends in the 

physical expansion of the city emerged, and basic commercial activities were established. This 

period of local history laid the groundwork for the commercial growth that followed. In the early 

years of Ames’ history, most downtown buildings were wood-framed, but fires in 1886 and 1887 

claimed many of the buildings on the north side of Main Street, leading to the construction of 

brick buildings in hopes of avoiding such conflagration in the future (Douglas L. Biggs and 

Gloria J. Betcher. Ames. Images of America Series. Charleston, SC: Arcadia Publishing 2014. 

pg. 19). The larger, more permanent brick buildings constructed in the late 1880s and early 

1890s, many of which still stand, were signs of the community’s economic wellbeing. 

 

Although the internal core of some commercial buildings are thought to remain intact from this 

early period, few commercial facades remain. The fact that few resources survive intact from this 
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the John L. Stevens Building at 231-233 Main Street. Budd's participation in this venture appears 

to have been strictly an investment, because he soon sold his interest to Stevens. But Budd 

quickly became involved with the construction of another building, this time across the street. 

The Masonic Hall at 232-234 Main Street resulted in a large part from Budd's activity. Edgar W. 

Stanton, professor of mathematics and four times acting president of Iowa State, served as a 

vice-president of the Union National Bank.  

 
Figure 6. This 1900 photo shows the northeast corner of Onondaga Street (now Main) and Kellogg Avenue. The 

corner (far left) building was built in 1891 by Professor J. L. Budd and Judge John L. Stevens. The Opera House 

occupied the entire second floor of this building with a capacity for 600. Grove and Zenor Grocery Store 

(afterwards, Grove Bros., then J.J. Grove) occupied the west half of the first floor until 1916. J. B. Elliott's furniture 

store first occupied the east half. The building was divided in 1903 when sold to J. E. Davis and A. L. Potter. A 

firewall was then built through the second floor making this into two buildings. The A. L. Potter Hardware Store can 

be seen in this photo, occupying the east half of the building. (Farwell T. Brown Photo Archive 10.41.1) 

 

 

At about the same time, faculty and administration at Iowa State also began to participate in local 

government. Most notable in this respect was the highly visible role played by Anson Marston, 

Dean of the Department of Engineering at Iowa State from 1904 until 1932. Marston provided 

the City of Ames with technical advice concerning numerous municipal improvement projects, 

notably the water pumping station, the reservoir, the elevated water tank, and the Ames Water 

Pollution Control System. (Iowa State University Special Collections, Marston papers). 

 

Boosterism began to play a big role in the commercial growth of Ames during the Progressive 

Era. The local Chamber of Commerce became a major player. Organized in June 1916, the Ames 
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Chamber of Commerce and Agriculture, as the association was known, aimed to embrace 

"business men of Ames, citizens of the town and farmers in the surrounding territory." (Ames 

City Directory, April 1917, p. 1) A list of the Chamber's standing committees indicates the 

breadth of the concern to better Ames: finance, judiciary, legislative, public affairs, railway and 

commerce, retailers, manufacturing, conventions, entertainment, good roads, fire protection, 

agriculture, civic improvement, and membership (ibid). 

  

Boosterism was particularly successful in two areas: transportation and convention-oriented 

visitor services. The two have sometimes gone hand-in-hand. When, for example, the Ancient 

Arabic Order of the Mystic Shriners of North America held their convention in Des Moines, they 

also held an automobile parade to Ames and ended the convention there. Throughout the 

Twentieth Century, Ames hosted conventions for many kinds of groups, including professional, 

fraternal, and club organizations. In 1908, for example, after the State of Iowa enacted the Iowa 

Drainage Law, a state convention was held in Ames to discuss implementation of this law in 

1909. Other conventions followed. Technological and scientific organizations, of course, favored 

Ames because of the state school (The Ames Times, October 21, 1909).  

 

In 1907 the hub of the central business district was the intersection of Douglas Avenue and Main 

Street. A 1907 photograph of the central business district by F. J. Bandholtz, photographer of 

Des Moines, illustrates the point (below). Bandholtz chose this intersection as the viewpoint 

from which to portray downtown. The point is further emphasized by the fact that Douglas 

Avenue enjoyed status as the community's premier residential corridor.  

 

 
Figure 7. A panoramic view of the intersection of Main Street and Douglas Avenue (Library of Congress 

2007660925 https://www.loc.gov/item/2007660925/) 

 

 

Parley Sheldon and Captain Wallace M. Greeley, two prominent local businessmen and 

community leaders, had also erected rival bank buildings at the intersection of Douglas and 

Main. The hub of downtown moved west when the Sheldon-Munn was completed in 1916. 

Greeley also moved his bank across the street and the hub thus became the intersection of Main 

Street and Kellogg.  

 

The Progressive Era and succeeding years saw 5th Street in transition. Throughout the first 

quarter of the twentieth century, 5th Street retained a residential character. With construction in 

1916 of the Masonic Temple at the corner of 5th and Douglas and the new United States Post 

Office Building at the corner of 6th and Kellogg, commercial activity began an encroachment 

which continues today. Further, public transportation routes encouraged commercial growth on 

5th Street. By 1900, for example, the Ames & College Railway traversed 5th Street to just east of 

Duff Avenue, and then, after the engine had been moved to the front of the train, made the return 
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Figure 8. Circa 1900 photo of the Dinkey at the downtown terminal. (Farwell T. Brown Photo Archive 29.145A.2) 

 

The years immediately prior to America's entry into World War I saw widespread expansion and 

major construction in the central business district and environs. New buildings included the 

Ames City Hall (1916), the Masonic Temple (1916), the Sheldon-Munn Hotel (1915-1916), and 

Mary Greeley Hospital (1916). Infrastructure improvements included construction of paved 

streets, leading to Main Street being paved in 1910, when the name was changed from Onondaga 

Street. The extent of this construction underlined the strength of the local economy, but it also 

showed that the community publicly recognized the need to invest in its future through general 

bond obligations.  

 

The years 1916 and 1917 also saw the first widespread alterations to the facades of to the 

buildings on Main Street. The Ames Weekly Tribune of May 18, 1916, summed up the building 

trend neatly, noting, “It seems to take but a start in the improvement line when others fall in and 

the first thing you know a beautiful lot of business blocks is the result. The many improvements 

which have been made on the fronts of the Ames business houses during the past few weeks are 

very noticeable and they add greatly to the looks of the good old town” (p. 8). This trend 

included, among other projects, extensive remodeling on the south and north sides of Main. In 

1916, the purchase of the Spence Building at 138 Main by the Appleby-Wagner Company 

brought a remodeling of the facade that quickly spread to the next three buildings to the east 

(136, 134, and 132 Main) when the contractor, H. F. Coates discovered the buildings’ facades 

depended on each other for support. The instability of the facades led The Ames Evening Times 

to report that there had been “some talk of a chance for suit” against the Fort Dodge, Des Moines 
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convenience of customers. South Kellogg's proximity to Lincoln Way and U. S. Highway 30 

provided this absolute necessity. Other commercial nodes associated with roadside businesses 

sprang up on Lincoln Way and nearby Duff Avenue.  

 

 
Figure 9. A 1939 Photo of Main Street looking east. The Sheldon-Munn Hotel is on the left at northwest corner of Main and 

Kellogg; the Rainbow Coffee Shop is at the northeast corner. On the southeast corner is the Ames Trust and Savings Bank. The 

streetcar tracks had been bricked over sometime after 1929 as seen in this picture. (Farwell T. Brown Photo Archive, 128.703.2-

6) 

 

Finally, as municipal government grew more complex (particularly following World War I), 

Iowa State faculty and administrators began to serve on more municipal boards and committees. 

College personnel had a strong tradition of service on the city library board but now they 

expanded their participation in other city activities, which, like the City Planning Commission 

established in 1927, were also growing to meet new demands for public service. 

 

AMES AT WAR AND PEACE (1941 AND BEYOND)  

 

Farm prices improved somewhat during World War II, but by 1946 they still stood, in terms 

relative to 1918 dollars, considerably lower than the pre-World War I period. By contrast, prices 

began to soar in the 1950s. Prices continued to push upwards through the 1960s and the 1970s 

saw another period of great prosperity for the farm economy. 

 

Although, historically, Ames was generally able to buck state-wide economic trends from the 

security offered by Iowa State University, state and national trends of the era determined the 

population, and thus, commercial influx in Ames brought on by the presence of the college. 

Prosperity on the farm and the G. I. Bill for returning veterans spelled population explosion for 
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Figure 10: Ames Main Street in 1958 looking east from the intersection of Kellogg and Main. Shows facades of 

Main Street buildings on the south side. (Ames Tribune Photo Archive) 

  

The boundaries of the central business district remained mostly static during the era although 

new businesses (particularly service industries like communications, finance, and human 

services) replaced older types. Notable expansion, such as the strip commercial developments on 

Lincoln Way and Duff Avenue, occurred adjacent to the Main Street District, but the buildings 

within the historic boundaries of the downtown remained adequate to house most of the district's 

commercial activity.  

 

Notably, the railroad tracks were repositioned in 1966 by removing Chicago & North Western’s 

switching yard from immediately south of Main Street buildings and repositioning the main line 

to the south of its former location. From Ames’ founding, the tracks had essentially divided the 

downtown area from the residential area south of the tracks. With the removal of the switching 

yard, Downtown Ames gained crucial space to allow for parking lots behind the businesses on 

Main Street’s south side. In the years following 1966, the city of Ames experienced an increase 

in face lifts and remodels in the rear of these businesses. The removal of the switching yard, 

easing of railroad traffic and development of Downtown’s south parking lots are perhaps the 

most important development on Ames’ Main Street in the past 60 years (best illustrated in 

figures S7, S8, S9).  

 

Since the 1960s, the commercial area south of the railroad tracks has undergone major 
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commercial style of architecture. Significant in this regard is the extensive use of brick for 

structural and decorative purposes, the imparting of texture to the building through the use of 

striated brick, emphasis on rectilinear shape and planar surface, and an overall simplicity 

relieved by brick of contrasting color.  

 

 
Figure 11. Postcard picture of the Sheldon Munn taken between 1917 and 1919, from Farwell Brown's "Postcards of 

Ames, Iowa, and Environs" collection (Farwell T. Brown Photographic Archive 79.413.3-5)  

 

A second major building was also constructed in 1915-1916 when the City of Ames undertook 

the construction of a new city hall and municipal building under the leadership of Mayor Parley 

Sheldon. Liebbe, Nourse, and Rasmussen designed this building. Erected on the site of Ames 

previous city hall (and located within a half block of the hotel), the new city hall also employed 

brick extensively and complemented the new hotel. The Municipal Building and the Masonic 

Temple are the only buildings in Downtown Ames already listed on the National Register of 

Historic Places. 
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Figure 12. Postcard photo of the Municipal Building taken shortly after its completion (Farwell T. Brown 

Photographic Archive 63.319.1-2) 

 

 

The third building, a new Masonic Hall, was constructed in 1916 on the corner of 5th and 

Douglas. Sponsored in part by Wallace M. Greeley, this building was built from designs of 

Liebbe, Nourse, and Rasmussen, architects of Des Moines. As with the Sheldon-Munn Hotel, the 

architects used planar surfaces enriched with geometric shapes and contrasting materials for 

polychromatic effect. Other Liebbe, Nourse, and Rasmussen designs in Ames include the Ames 

Savings Bank of 1913, Mary Greeley Hospital of 1916, and possibly the redesign of the Greeley 

House on the comer of 5th and Douglas.  
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Figure 13. Photograph of the Masonic Building taken c.1919 (Farewell T. Brown Photographic Archive 96.521.1-3) 

 

A VOCABULARY OF ELEMENTS EVOLVES  

 

Stimulated by the aforementioned buildings, the commercial style of architecture, as practiced in 

Ames, developed a vocabulary of architectural elements which were repeated again and again 

and over a long period of time. A lexicon of this vocabulary reads like a list of features which 

typify the commercial style of architecture. These elements included parapet panels, 

stringcourses, window enframements, and lintels and sills extended into stringcourses.  

Local contractor-builders, John and Ben Cole, became masters of these brickwork elements. The 

elaborate parapet panels, cornices, and stringcourses on façades they constructed remain striking 

elements of Main Street architecture, notably at 213, 217-219, and 229 Main. 

 

Parapet Panels 

 

The parapet panel achieved widespread employment and became the hallmark of the influence in 

Ames. The parapet panel is located above the upper floor windows and below the top of the 

facade. These panels deserve a typology of their own. Generally rectilinear in design, they 

employ a complexity of brick bondings, enframement techniques, colors, and surface finishes. 

An idea of this complexity is suggested in the following list of examples of variations found in 

the Main Street District.  

 

 


